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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	SYLVIA A. ENGLISH, 

                                           Employee, 

                                                Applicant,

                                                   v. 

DENALI FOODS, INC.; d/b/a 

TACO BELL,

                                           Employer,

                                                   and 

WAUSAU UNDERWRITERS INS. CO.,

                                           Insurer,

                                                Defendants.
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	FINAL

DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No. 200508120M, 200523681
AWCB Decision No. 11-0031

Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

on March 25, 2011


Sylvia A. English’s (Employee) claim was dismissed on December 29, 2006, for failure to sign releases.  English v. Denali Foods, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 06-0337 (December 29, 2006) (English I).  Her “Motion to Reopen Case” dated December 21, 2007, was heard on May 13, 2009, and July 15, 2009, and Employer’s request for oral argument on its “Notice of Additional Relevant Evidence” dated August 31, 2009, was heard on September 23, 2009.  English v. Denali Foods, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 09-0194 (December 16, 2009) (English II) found: Subject matter jurisdiction to determine whether Employee, because of her mental status, understood the requirement to sign discovery releases and consequences of her failure to sign releases at all relevant times before her case was dismissed in 2006; Employee’s December 21, 2007 “Petition to Reinstate Workers’ Compensation Claim” was timely filed, and authority to decide it existed; English I  made mistakes in its determination of facts, and was vacated; and the hearing record from the July 15, 2009 hearing would not be reopened to allow additional evidence concerning Employee’s failure to sign post-July 15, 2009-hearing releases.  Consequently, English II granted Employee’s December 21, 2007 Petition to Reinstate Workers’ Compensation Claim, modified English I, vacated it and reinstated Employee’s claim, for further proceedings.

Employee’s December 31, 2009 claim for permanent total disability (PTD), temporary total disability (TTD), permanent partial impairment (PPI), medical costs, reemployment benefits, interest, attorney’s fees and costs in respect to her low back, neck and shoulder injuries was heard on February 10, 2011, in Anchorage, Alaska.  At hearing, Employee withdrew her PTD claim.  Attorney Robert Erwin represented Employee, who testified as the only witness.  Attorney Tasha M. Porcello represented Denali Foods, Inc., and its workers’ compensation insurer (Employer).  The record closed on February 23, 2011, when the panel met to deliberate.


ISSUES

Employee contended in her claim and at prehearing conferences she is entitled to TTD from May 20, 2006, through possibly October 6, 2006.  However, she now contends TTD is owed from January 28, 2006, through September 26, 2006.  She further contends: Employer owes her 6% PPI or possibly more, roughly $3,500.00 in incurred medical costs and continuing medical care, and she is entitled to reemployment benefits, and interest.  Employee contends her claims are supported by numerous medical providers’ opinions.  Lastly, she contends if she is awarded any additional benefits, her attorney is entitled to an award of fees and costs, which will be supported by a post-decision fee and cost affidavit.    

Employer contends Employee was medically stable before the period for which she seeks TTD, and she failed to provide any medical evidence stating she was not medically stable during such time.  Consequently, it contends by law Employee is not entitled to TTD after the date of medical stability.  Employer further contends PPI ratings are either 0% for these work-related injuries, or any ratings higher than 0% are based upon the raters’ misunderstanding of Employee’s medical history.  As for medical benefits, Employer contends there is no medical evidence Employee needed the care for which she seeks reimbursement, or opining she needs any further care for her work-related injuries.  Alternately, it contends the weight of medical evidence shows medical care is not necessary, reasonable or work-related.  Employer contends reemployment benefits are not appropriate as Employee is disabled because of her mental health issues and has training to enable her to work, but for her non-work-related mental health condition.  It contends, as no further benefits are due, Employee is entitled to no interest, attorney’s fees or costs, and objects to a post-decision fee and cost affidavit as untimely.  

1) Is Employee entitled to additional TTD?

2) Is Employee entitled to PPI?

3) Is Employee entitled to reimbursement of incurred medical costs or any additional medical care at this time?

4) Is Employee entitled to reemployment benefits?

5) Is Employee entitled to interest, attorney’s fees, or costs?

FINDINGS OF FACT

A review of the entire record establishes the following facts and factual conclusions by a preponderance of the evidence:

1) On August 8, 1991, Employee’s low back magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scan disclosed a central disc extrusion at L4-5 and a very small disc protrusion at L5-S1 on the left (Employer’s Hearing Brief, February 3, 2011; Ex. M; Radiologist Report, August 8, 1991).

2) On October 20, 1995, Employee filed a workers’ compensation claim in AWCB Case  No. 199115167, seeking benefits related to a 1991 low back injury, noting she had herniated a disc and had lost a couple of jobs as a computer-aided drafter because of her “medical status” (Employer’s Hearing Brief, February 3, 2011; Ex. D; Claim, October 20, 1995).

3) On January 19, 1996, Declan Nolan, M.D., in the unrelated 1991workers’ compensation case, re-examined Employee’s lumbar spine and stated she had been having low back pain “since last year.”  Employee reported “three or four bad attacks a year,” had seen another orthopedic surgeon, and had “extra physical therapy.”  Employee reported she had lost some jobs because of her back.  Dr. Nolan diagnosed lumbar degenerative disc disease with a history of disc syndrome with no radiculopathy or instability.  Dr. Nolan opined Employee had a ratable PPI “clearly related to her lumbar disc injury of 1991.”  He adduced a 7% PPI rating for the lumbar spine under the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, 3rd Ed., (Guides III) (Employer’s Hearing Brief, February 3, 2011; Ex. D; Physician’s Report, January 19, 1996).

4) On February 7, 1996, State Farm paid Employee $9,450.00 for her 7% PPI rating in the unrelated 1991 case (Employer’s Hearing Brief, February 3, 2011; Ex. D; Compensation Report, February 7, 1006; see also check, February 7, 1996).

5) In October 2004, Employee began working for Denali Foods as a cleaning person and cashier (English).

6) On May 20, 2005, while working for Employer, Employee hurt her lower back while lifting a box of liquid grease into a dumpster.  On October 27, 2005, Employee hurt her low back, shoulders and neck while sweeping, mopping floors and washing the walls (Reports of Injury, May 23, 2005, March 21, 2006; English).

7) On August 26, 2005, Employee reported to Seethaler Physical Therapy she woke up with “spasm in her neck” and was going to see her chiropractor (chart note, August 26, 2005).

8) On September 8, 2005, Employee completed a physical capacities evaluation (PCE), which showed she was in the “light to medium” exertional category, meaning she could lift 35 pounds occasionally, 25 pounds frequently, and 20 pounds constantly (Seethaler PCE, September 8, 2005).

9) On September 19, 2005, Employee’s attending physician Charles Krichbaum, D.C., released Employee to modified work duties (Physician’s Report, September 30, 2005).

10) Employee returned to work for Employer, and received temporary partial disability (TPD) from September 23, 2005, through October 20, 2005, from October 21, 2005, through November 1, 2005, and from November 2, 2005, through December 5, 2005 (Compensation Report, May 24, 2006).

11) On September 24, 2005, Employer’s medical evaluators (EME) Charles A. Simpson, D.C., and Ilmar Soot, M.D., opined: Employee suffered only a lumbosacral strain as a result of the May 20, 2005 work-related injury.  Treatment to date was reasonable and ongoing treatment in the form of once-a-week chiropractic treatments, and physical therapy and restoration treatments were appropriate for another month.  Thereafter, treatment should decline to every other week for two months; passive physical treatment might extend over the next three months.  Supervised physical rehabilitation should decline and end in 2-3 months, followed by a home program.  Employee may never be able to return to full, regular duty and she reportedly said she has always worked with a lifting restriction since her 1991 low back injury.  The EME doctors predicted medical stability in “2-3 months,” and consequently did not offer a PPI rating (EME report, September 24, 2005).

12) There is no contemporaneous medical record in the agency file showing any evidence of an injury or complaint of an injury on October 27, 2005 (record).

13) On October 27, 2005, Employee aggravated her neck and back while working for Employer cleaning walls (English).

14) On November 5, 2005, Employee reported to the emergency room complaining of “neck pain” radiating into her shoulder with no “inciting event or any new trauma.”  Employee reported it had been bothering her for the last “one-and-one-half days” (PAMC Emergency Room Note, November 5, 2005).

15) On November 7, 2005, a Providence Hospital emergency room report notes a past medical history of “paranoid schizophrenia and borderline personality disorder” (Emergency Room Note, November 7, 2005).

16) On November 30, 2005, Dr. Krichbaum stated Employee “did sustain a new injury on October 27, 2005,” which he described as “mild” (Physician’s Report, November 30, 2005).

17) On January 27, 2006, Dr. Krichbaum opined Employee was not medically stable, was disabled, could not return to her job at the time of injury and “may require retraining” (Physician’s Report, January 27, 2006).

18) On January 28, 2006, Dr. Simpson and Dr. Soot in another EME report included as part of Employee’s “general medical history” a previous diagnosis of “borderline schizophrenia and maybe a little depression.”  They opined: There was no evidence of a neck strain from the May 20, 2005 injury.  Thus, they concluded past and future medical care addressing her neck cannot be related to the May 20, 2005 injury.  The EME physicians stated the May 20, 2005 injury was medically stable, caused no PPI, and Employee’s inability to perform her job at the time of injury was caused by her preexisting degenerative changes and not her work-related injury (EME report, January 28, 2006).

19) On February 15, 2006, Dr. Krichbaum said Employee’s “current cervical spine symptoms were caused at work on 10/27/05 after mopping, sweeping, dumping trash and washing walls” (letter, February 15, 2006).

20) On February 17, 2006, Dr. Krichbaum wrote to the Division of Vocational Rehabilitation (DVR) and made all the predictions required under AS 23.30.041 for an eligibility evaluation request (letter, February 17, 2006).  If it was Dr. Krichbaum’s intention to support an eligibility evaluation for Employee from the Reemployment Benefits Administrator (RBA) under 
AS 23.30.041, he sent his letter to the wrong place (observations).

21) On February 28, 2006, Dr. Krichbaum opined Employee was not medically stable, may not be able to return to her job at the time of injury, needed additional medical care, could do light-duty work, and would have a PPI rating.  His chart notes from that date reflect “95%” to “100%” improvement in most areas related to the low back.  He disagreed with the EME reports and stated the May 20, 2005 work-related injury was the “primary cause” of Employee’s low back symptoms, as she “was not having these problems before the injury,” and the annular tear at L5-S1 and disc protrusions at L2-3, L3-4, and L4-5 were also caused by this injury.  Dr. Krichbaum also stated Employee’s cervical and upper back symptoms are “due to the injuries sustained on 10/27/05,” were not medically stable but would result in PPI, her inability to return to her job was caused by her injuries subject of this claim, and neither work-related injury was medically stable.  He based his opinion on his review of records, evaluations and treatment and his belief Employee did not have low back, cervical, thoracic or radiating pains “until after the workers’ compensation injury of 5/20/05 and 10/27/05” (Physician’s Report and attachments, February 28, 2006; emphasis in original).

22) On February 28, 2006, Dr. Krichbaum released Employee to return to light duty work (id.).

23) From April 11, 2006, through June 5, 2006, Employee was taking consistent doses of Zyprexa at which point she stopped appearing for her medication according to records from Anchorage Community Mental Health Services, Inc. (ACMH) (ACMH Medical Orders, April 11, 2006, through June 12, 2006).

24) On April 19, 2006, Dr. Krichbaum opined Employee had reached “maximum medical improvement” and needed palliative care (Physician’s Report, April 29, 2006).

25) On May 9, 2006, Employee saw her mental health worker reporting she had been off her Zyprexa, was hearing voices and thought someone had broken into her home because items were missing from her refrigerator (ACMH note, May 9, 2006).  Employee continued thereafter to hear voices, some of which were talking about “workers’ compensation” issues.  Her caseworker noted Employee had “paranoid delusions and psychotic symptoms.”  These persisted for six ACMH visits from May 9, 2006 through May 17, 2006 (id., at respective dates).

26) From May 22, 2006 through August 29, 2007, Employee’s ACMHS records show a continuance of Employee’s psychotic break, including inpatient treatment at Alaska Psychiatric Institute (API).  On August 1, 2006 in particular, Employee’s hallucinations evidenced what a later EME would describe as “a very serious psychotic symptom” (id.; see also discussion of February 2, 2009 EME, below).

27) On May 24, 2006, Employer paid Employee $1,511.77 in TTD benefits for the period December 6, 2005, through January 27, 2006 (Compensation Report, May 24, 2006).

28) On May 31, 2006, Dr. Krichbaum opined Employee was released to light duty work.  Though he previously stated as of April 19, 2006, Employee had reached “maximum medical improvement,” his Physician’s Report forms continued to say she was not “medically stable” (Physician’s Report, May 31, 2006).

29) In this context and in this case, Dr. Krichbaum’s use of the phrase “maximum medical improvement” means the same as “medical stability” (experience, judgment, observations, unique or peculiar facts of the case, and inferences drawn from all of the above).
30) On June 30, 2006, Dr. Krichbaum stated Employee was medically stable and needed further chiropractic care or she would “deteriorate” (Physician’s report, June 30, 2006).

31) On July 21, 2006, Employer controverted all benefits for Employee’s failure to sign release of information forms (Controversion Notice, July 21, 2006).

32) On July 25, 2006, on Dr. Krichbaum’s’ referral, David Mulholland, D.C., a provider experienced in performing PPI ratings, evaluated Employee for a PPI rating.  He was not asked for and did not provide an opinion on the actual date of medical stability.  Employee provided a history, which “began in May 2005,” followed by a second incident in October 2005.  Dr. Mulholland was aware of Employee’s history of a herniated disc in her low back in 1991, but she advised him she went to her medical doctor and was treated with medications and physical therapy, “which resolved her problem.”  Employee advised Dr. Mulholland she had one episode of neck pain in 1981 or 1982, “which resolved” with a brief course of chiropractic care.  Employee currently complained of non-radiating neck and low back pain.  Dr. Mulholland had Dr. Krichbaum’s chart notes to review, as well as MRI reports from June 23, 2005, for the low back and December 8, 2005, for the neck and the September 24, 2005, and January 28, 2006, EME reports from Drs. Simpson and Soot.  Dr. Mulholland assessed a stable cervical sprain/strain syndrome with multilevel small disc protrusions, with the largest at C5-6 with evidence of “mass effect on the cord,” a stable lumbosacral sprain/strain syndrome complicated by multilevel degenerative changes, and a posterior annular tear at L5-S1.  Dr. Mulholland opined Employee had “separate and distinct incidents” and used the DRE category method to rate them.  He awarded Employee cervical category II PPI of 5% for asymmetrical loss-of-range-of-motion and observable spasms on examination.  He also awarded 5% lumbar category II PPI of 5% for observable muscle guarding and asymmetric loss-of-range-of-motion, complicated by an annular tear at L5-S1.  Dr. Mulholland combined these for 10% total whole-person PPI.  He further opined Employee suffered significant impairment as a result of these injuries and could return to her job at the time of injury (experience, observations; report, July 25, 2006).

33) Dr. Mulholland would not have rated Employee for PPI if he did not believe she was medically stable at the time he saw her (experience, judgment, observations, and inferences drawn from all of the above).
34) On August 15, 2006, Employer wrote to the Workers’ Compensation Officer concerning a pending second independent medical evaluation (SIME) and the lack of signed medical releases.  Employer objected to the SIME occurring without complete medical records, and requested a stay of the SIME (letter, August 15, 2006).

35) On August 30, 2006, Employer filed a petition formally requesting the SIME be stayed unless and until Employee returned the releases (Petition, August 30, 2006).

36) On September 8, 2006, Employer wrote the Workers’ Compensation Officer reminding her Employer requested the SIME be stayed unless and until Employee returned Employer’s releases (letter, September 8, 2006).

37) On September 13, 2006, and September 27, 2006, respectively, William Ross, D.C., and Thomas Gritzka, M.D., performed an SIME (SIME reports, September 26, 2006, September 27, 2006).  

38) At the time of the SIME examinations, the SIME doctors had 135 pages of medical records, spanning the period November 12, 2004, through May 31, 2006 (record).
39) On September 13, 2006, SIME Dr. Ross obtained a history from Employee of no “pre-existing history of low back treatment or neck treatment, but in 1981-82 she had one treatment which resolved due to muscle neck tension.”  However, Employee later told Dr. Ross she had low back “traction” in 1991.  Based on this history and the provided medical records, Dr. Ross opined the May 20, 2005 injury combined with Employee’s pre-existing low back condition to cause a permanent change in her condition and cause it to become symptomatic; he also stated Employee had a neck injury on October 27, 2005, which caused a temporary aggravation, which had resolved as of September 13, 2006.  He further opined the May 20, 2005 injury was still a substantial factor for Employee’s low back symptoms, based upon MRI reports and other providers’ records showing “areas of injury” and responsiveness to treatment and based on Dr. Ross’ own evaluation.   He “agreed” with the EME physicians concerning the neck, and opined contrary however to the EME’s assertions, the “neck pain since the time of injury of the neck was most probably a consequence of widespread degenerative changes combined with the injury of that date, 10/27/2005” (SIME report, September 26, 2006). 

40) Dr. Ross opined Employee’s low back treatment to February 28, 2006 was reasonable, and neck treatment to April 19, 2006 was reasonable, but did not think any further medical treatment was appropriate for either the low back or the neck (id.).

41) Dr. Ross stated Employee reached medical stability for her low back on February 28, 2006, and for her neck on April 19, 2006.  Dr. Ross agreed the documentation for the October 2005 injury was “very light” (id.).

42) Though Dr. Ross stated Employee should not return to the type of work she was doing at the time of injury, he opined Employee was disabled from her job at the time of injury and stated she should not do “heavy, moderate, or light lifting.”  He did not directly respond to the question of whether her inability to return to work was the result of her work-related injuries.  He only implied it was.  Dr. Ross did not specifically address Employee’s disability status during the periods for which she sought TTD (id. at 14).

43) Dr. Ross provided an 8% PPI rating for the low back based upon the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, 5th Ed., (Guides V), but provided no analysis and based his opinion on his belief Employee had no pain or symptoms related to her preexisting low back condition and thus offered no offset for any preexisting impairment (id.).

44) Dr. Ross also noted as a diagnostic impression “paranoid schizophrenia” (id.). 

45) On September 27, 2006, SIME Dr. Gritzka “integrated” Employee’s responses to his queries into his report while he reviewed the medical records provided.  He noted a diagnosis history of “paranoid schizophrenia and borderline personality disorder.”  However, Employee denied she was schizophrenic, and stated she did not know why the Anchorage Police Department once took her to “Anchorage” [Alaska] Psychiatric Institute (API) for evaluation.  Employee told Dr. Gritzka she fired her attorney because he was “getting information” to opposing counsel.  Employee reported “sometimes I hear voices.”  She was reluctant to complete some of Dr. Gritzka’s forms when she learned they would be provided to “interested parties.”  Dr. Gritzka noted when Employee’s history was being taken she “appeared to lose contact with the line of questioning or the line of thought that was being pursued,” and “appeared to have lapses of attention.”  When Employee’s history of prior 1991 and 1994-95 back injuries was mentioned, Employee interjected this “should not be her medical records” and said the Alaska Worker’s Compensation Board told her nothing prior to two years before her date of injury “was allowed” for consideration in the analysis of her current work injury.  Dr. Gritzka’s diagnosis included “history of paranoid schizophrenia and personality disorder; no additional information available at this time.”  Dr. Gritzka further opined the examinee has a “mental health problem” that is not clearly defined in her medical records, including a long-standing history of hearing voices.  When Dr. Gritzka told her these sounded like auditory hallucinations, Employee stated “they are not hallucinations.”  Dr. Gritzka said “Employee apparently has a significant psychological factor but exactly how severe it is and how might affect her work tolerance is unknown at this time, without a psychiatric evaluation.”  He had no imaging studies to review.  In his view, Employee’s history as well as her complaints of physical symptoms “must be viewed in light of her mental health issues.”  Dr. Gritzka opined, based upon the above, it “should be clear” Employee needed a formal psychiatric evaluation and diagnosis to address her symptoms (SIME report, September 27, 2006).

46) Dr. Gritzka opined Employee had a lumbosacral sprain superimposed on mild to moderate degenerative spondylosis, moderate spinal transverse central stenosis at L5-S1, and moderate central stenosis at L4-5, caused by the May 20, 2005 lifting incident.  Because there was no documentation of a specific neck injury, Dr. Gritzka stated Employee’s neck and upper extremity complaints were caused by preexisting degenerative changes.  Employee is “still hearing voices” and Dr. Gritzka opined Employee’s complaints of neck pain “have to be viewed in the light of her apparent mental health problem” (id.)

47) Dr. Gritzka stated the May 20, 2005 incident at work was a substantial factor aggravating Employee’s preexisting lumbar condition temporarily.  He also opined any October 27, 2005 event caused no permanent condition in the cervical spine, and the history of any such event even occurring was “rather vague.”  He attributed the most probable cause of Employee’s cervical complaints to her degenerative cervical conditions (id.).

48) In Dr. Gritzka’s opinion, Employee needed no further treatment to the low back to address the May 20, 2005 work-related injury.  He opined medical treatment to the low back was reasonable and necessary until November 30, 2005, at which time Employee would have reached medical stability (id.).

49) Dr. Gritzka stated Employee was in the “light medium” exertional level for working but said this was not because of her work-related injury but was caused by her antecedent cervical and lumbar spine conditions (id.).

50) As for PPI, Dr. Gritzka opined Employee had a current 5% PPI rating for her cervical spine and 5% for her lumbar spine, pursuant to the Diagnostic Related Estimate (DRE) Category II, Guides V  but both ratings were the result of preexisting conditions and not the work-related events (id.).  If he were to estimate any ratable PPI pursuant to the Guides existing before the work-related injuries subject of this claim, Dr. Gritzka would estimate Employee probably fit at least into Category I for her low back based upon her prior injury history.  He opined there was lack of any evidence of a preexisting cervical injury, but because there was also a lack of any documented injury on October 27, 2005, in Dr. Gritzka’s opinion the current Category II cervical PPI rating is the result of a natural progression of Employee’s antecedent cervical conditions (id.).

51) Dr. Gritzka’s opinions have been helpful in this and in other cases (experience, observations).

52) In October 2006, Employee was notified she was entitled to Social Security Disability benefits, effective April 11, 2006, for her mental health impairments (Notice of Award, June 11, 2007; see also Claim Information, May 23, 2007).

53) On November 16, 2006, Employee at a prehearing conference filed and hand-served on Employer a $20.00 pharmacy receipt and a “Transportation Reimbursement Request.”  The pharmacy receipt had “Flexiril – Muscle Relaxer” hand-written on it; the receipt is from Anchorage Neighborhood Health and is dated “10/17/06.”  The “request” document listed “appointment dates” but did not state with whom the appointment occurred, the distance to or from Employee’s home, or the method by which Employee traveled; rather it requested a flat rate of either 70 cents or $1.00 for “each visit.”  Employer advised it would not pay these as Employee’s case was controverted (Prehearing Conference Summary November 16, 2006).  

54) On February 6, 2007, Employee reported to her caseworker at ACMH she was concerned about her workers’ compensation case.  Employee noted she continued to run into barriers in the system and did not “trust anyone” to help her.  She might trust her mother to act as an intermediary if it was her “real mother.”  However, Employee was not sure the woman in Eagle River who claims to be her mother is actually “real” because she does not act as happy as Employee’s mother “should act.”  The clinician assessed Employee presented with more psychotic symptoms, which affected her ability to advocate for herself.  She was “too paranoid” to trust anyone else to advocate for her, but nonetheless, she was not gravely disabled or imminently dangerous to herself or others (medical progress note, February 6, 2007).

55) On May 23, 2007, Social Security advised Employee she met medical and non-medical rules to qualify for retroactive disability benefits based upon medical evidence which showed Employee was “disabled from [her] mental health impairments” as of April 11, 2006 (Social Security Claim Information, May 23, 2007).

56) On July 7, 2007, Social Security advised Employee it was holding benefit payments as it determined she needed a “representative payee” to help manage her disability payments (letter, July 7, 2007).  Social Security sent this similar letter to Employee on three separate occasions seeking her action electing a representative payee (letter, August 2, 2007).

57) On or about August 22, 2007, Employee resumed her medications after a stay at API (ACMH note, August 22, 2007).

58) None of the EME or SIME doctors had Dr. Nolan’s January 19, 1996 PPI rating report for review at the time they gave their opinions (record; observations).

59) On September 9, 2010, Employee through counsel filed and served a medical summary, which had attached to it several medical billing statements, all of which were incurred after January 1, 2007, including a membership at The Alaska Club (Medical Summary, September 9, 2010).

60) On February 10, 2011, Employee at hearing testified she went to the Alaska Club at Dr. Krichbaum’s direction and paid for it herself (English). 

61) On February 10, 2011, Employee filed and served Employer with copies of unpaid medical bills incurred from May 2008, through May 2009, and bills from The Alaska Club dated February 7, 2011 (record).

62) On February 10, 2011, Employee through counsel stated she had filed her unpaid medical bills subject of her claim on a medical summary dated September 9, 2010 (English hearing arguments).

63) Employee’s counsel did not file an itemized fee or cost affidavit in accordance with the law; Employer at hearing objected to Employee’s counsel’s suggestion he may file one after the hearing if he prevailed on any issues (hearing arguments).

64) The RBA has not issued any decisions in Employee’s case concerning her entitlement to an eligibility evaluation or eligibility, if any (record).

PRINCIPLES OF LAW

AS 23.30.001.  Intent of the legislature and construction of chapter.  It is the intent of the legislature that

1) This chapter be interpreted so as to ensure the quick, efficient, fair, and predictable delivery of indemnity and medical benefits to injured workers at a reasonable cost to the employers who are subject to the provisions of this chapter;

2) Worker’s compensation cases shall be decided on their merits except where otherwise provided by statute. . . .

The board may base its decision not only on direct testimony, medical findings, and other tangible evidence, but also on the board’s “experience, judgment, observations, unique or peculiar facts of the case, and inferences drawn from all of the above.”  Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 533-534 (Alaska 1987).  “An employee’s preexisting condition will not” relieve an employer from liability in a proper case (id. at 534).  A finding disability would not have occurred “but for” employment may be supported not only by a doctor’s testimony, but inferentially from the fact that an injured worker had been able to continue working despite pain prior to the subject employment but required surgery after that employment. A finding reasonable persons would find employment was a cause of the employee’s disability and impose liability is, “as are all subjective determinations, the most difficult to support.”  However, there is also no reason to suppose Board members who so find are either irrational or arbitrary. That “some reasonable persons may disagree with a subjective conclusion does not necessarily make that conclusion unreasonable” (id.).

AS 23.30.041.  Rehabilitation and reemployment of injured workers.  (a) The director shall select and employ a reemployment benefits administrator. . . .
. . .

(d) Within 30 days after the referral by the administrator, the rehabilitation specialist shall perform the eligibility evaluation and issue a report of findings. . . .   Within 14 days after receipt of the report from the rehabilitation specialist, the administrator shall notify the parties of the employee’s eligibility for reemployment preparation benefits.  Within 10 days after the decision, either party may seek review of the decision by requesting a hearing under AS 23.30.110.  The hearing shall be held within 30 days after it is requested.  The board shall uphold the decision of the administrator except for abuse of discretion on the administrator’s part. . . .

. . .

(r) In this section

(1) ‘administrator’ means the reemployment benefits administrator under a) of this section;

In Irvine v. Glacier General Construction, 984 P.2d 1103 (Alaska 1999), the Alaska Supreme Court said §041 must be followed.  The legislature §041 granted the RBA authority to decide in the first instance various issues related to reemployment preparation benefits, including approving a request for an eligibility evaluation and ultimately deciding whether an injured worker is eligible for rehabilitation and reemployment benefits.  Meza v. Alyeska Seafoods, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 89-0207 (August 14, 1989).  The law sets forth the statutorily mandated factors the RBA must consider in making this decision.

AS 23.30.095.  Medical treatments, services, and examinations.  (a) The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to the employee. . . .  It shall be additionally provided that, if continued treatment or care or both beyond the two-year period is indicated, the injured employee has the right of review by the board.  The board may authorize continued treatment or care or both as the process of recovery may require. . . . 

Medical benefits including continuing care are covered by the AS 23.30.120(a) presumption of compensability.  Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2d 661, 664-665 (Alaska 1991).  In complex medical cases, medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link between the work injury and the ongoing disabilities.  Delaney v. Alaska Airlines, 693 P. 2d 859, 862 (Alaska 1985).  
Under the Act, an employer shall furnish an employee injured at work any medical treatment “which the nature of the injury or process of recovery requires” within the first two years of the injury.  The medical treatment must be “reasonable and necessitated” by the work-related injury.  Thus, when the board reviews an injured employee’s claim for medical treatment made within two years of an injury that is indisputably work-related, “its review is limited to whether the treatment sought is reasonable and necessary.”  Philip Weidner & Associates v. Hibdon, 989 P.2d 727, 730 (Alaska 1999).

An injured worker is entitled to a prospective determination of whether her injury is compensable, regardless of any pending claim for medical care or other benefits.  Summers v. Korobkin Constr., 814 P.2d 1369 (Alaska 1991).

AS 23.30.110.  Procedure on claims.  (a) Subject to the provisions of AS 23.30.105, a claim for compensation may be filed with the board in accordance with its regulations at any time after the first seven days of disability . . . and the board may hear and determine all questions in respect to the claim. . . .

The language “all questions” is limited to questions raised by the parties or by the agency upon notice duly given to the parties.  Simon v. Alaska Wood Products, 633 P.2d 252, 256 (Alaska 1981).  The board may not decline to hear disputes concerning a validly filed claim.  Summers v. Korobkin Construction, 814 P.2d 1369, 1372 (Alaska 1991).

AS 23.30.120.  Presumptions.  (a) In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that

(1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter; . . . .

“The text of AS 23.30.120(a) (1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers’ compensation statute.”  Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996) (emphasis in original).  Therefore, an injured worker is afforded a presumption all the benefits she seeks are compensable (id.).  An employee is entitled to the presumption of compensability as to each evidentiary question.  Sokolowski v. Best Western Golden Lion, 813 P.2d 286, 292 (Alaska 1991).  
The presumption’s application involves a three-step analysis.  Louisiana Pacific Corp. v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1379, 1381 (Alaska 1991).  First, the employee must establish a “preliminary link” between the disability or need for medical care and his employment.  The evidence necessary to raise the presumption of compensability varies depending on the claim.  In claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary to make that connection.  Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 316 (Alaska 1981).  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.  VECO, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).  The employee need only adduce “some,” “minimal” relevant evidence (Cheeks v. Wismer & Becker/G.S. Atkinson, J.V., 742 P.2d 239, 244 (Alaska 1987)) establishing a “preliminary link” between the disability and employment (Burgess Construction, 623 P.2d at 316) or between a work-related injury and the existence of disability (Wien Air Alaska v. Kramer, 807 P.2d 471, 473-74 (Alaska 1991)).  “Before the presumption attaches, some preliminary link must be established between the disability and the employment. . . .”  Burgess Construction Co., 623 P.2d at 316.  The witnesses’ credibility is of no concern in this first step.  Excursion Inlet Packing Co. v. Ugale, 92 P.3d 413, 417 (Alaska 2004).
Once the preliminary link is established, the employer has the burden to overcome the raised presumption by coming forward with substantial evidence to the contrary.  Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1978).  There are two possible ways for an employer to overcome the presumption: 

(1) Produce substantial evidence providing an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability; or 

(2)  Directly eliminate any reasonable possibility the employment was a factor in the disability.  

Grainger v. Alaska Workers’ Comp. Bd., 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991).  “Substantial evidence” is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.  Miller, 577 P.2d at 1046.  “It has always been possible to rebut the presumption of compensability by presenting a qualified expert who testifies that, in his or her opinion, the claimant’s work was probably not a substantial cause of the disability.”  Norcon, Inc. v. Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board, 880 P.2d 1051, 1054 (Alaska 1994) citing Big K Grocery v. Gibson, 836 P.2d 941 (Alaska 1992).  If medical experts rule out work-related causes for the injury, then an alternative explanation is not required.  Norcon, 880 P.2d at 1054, citing Childs v. Copper Valley Elec. Ass’n, 860 P. 2d 1184, 1189 (Alaska 1993).  The employer’s evidence is viewed in isolation, without regard to any evidence presented by the employee.  Id. at 1055.  Therefore, credibility questions and the weight to give the employer’s evidence is deferred until after it is decided if the employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption the employee’s injury entitles him to compensation benefits.  Norcon, 880 P.2d at 1054.  

If the employer produces substantial evidence the injury is not work-related, the presumption drops out, and an employee must prove all elements of her case by a preponderance of the evidence.  Koons, 816 P.2d 1381 (citing Miller, 577 P.2d at 1046).  The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence must “induce a belief” in the fact finders’ minds the asserted facts are probably true.  Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).  

Board decisions must be supported by “substantial evidence,” i.e., “such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.” Miller, 577 P.2d at 1049 (Alaska 1978).  The same standard is used in determining whether an employer has rebutted the §120 presumption (id. at 1046).  The judiciary may not reweigh evidence before the board (id. at 1049).  But it also will not abdicate its reviewing function and affirm a Board decision with only “extremely slight” supporting evidence.  Black v. Universal Services, 627 P.2d 1073 (Alaska 1981).  

AS 23.30.122.  Credibility of witnesses.  The board has the sole power to determine the credibility of a witness.  A finding by the board concerning the weight to be accorded a witness’s testimony, including medical testimony and reports, is conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting or susceptible to contrary conclusions.  The findings of the board are subject to the same standard of review as a jury’s finding in a civil action.

AS 23.30.135.  Procedure before the board.  (a) In making an investigation or inquiry or conducting a hearing the board is not bound by common law or statutory rules of evidence or by technical or formal rules of procedure, except as provided by this chapter.  The board may make its investigation or inquiry or conduct its hearing in the manner by which it may best ascertain the rights of the parties. . . . 

AS 23.30.145.  Attorney fees.  (a) Fees for legal services rendered in respect to a claim are not valid unless approved by the board, and the fees may not be less than 25 percent on the first $1,000 of compensation or part of the first $1,000 of compensation, and 10 percent of all sums in excess of $1,000 of compensation.  When the board advises that a claim has been controverted, in whole or in part, the board may direct that the fees for legal services be paid by the employer or carrier in addition to compensation awarded; the fees may be allowed only on the amount of compensation controverted and awarded. . . . 


(b) If an employer . . . otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including reasonable attorney fees.  The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.

Subsection 145(a) authorizes attorney’s fees as a percentage of the amount of benefits awarded to an employee when an employer controverts a claim.  An award under §145(a) may include continuing fees on future benefits.  By contrast, §145(b) requires an employer to pay reasonable attorney’s fees when the employer delays or “otherwise resists” payment of compensation and the employee’s attorney successfully prosecutes his claim.  Harnish Group, Inc. v. Moore, 160 P.3d 146, 150 (Alaska 2007).  Attorney’s fees in workers’ compensation cases should be fully compensatory and reasonable so injured workers have competent counsel available to them. Cortay v. Silver Bay Logging, 787 P.2d 103, 108 (Alaska 1990).

AS 23.30.185.  Compensation for temporary total disability.  In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee's spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the disability. Temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.

AS 23.30.190.  Compensation for permanent partial impairment; rating guides. . . .

(b)  All determinations of the existence and degree of permanent impairment shall be made strictly and solely under the whole person determination as set out in the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment (Guides). . . . 

(c) The impairment rating . . . shall be reduced by a permanent impairment that existed before the compensable injury. . . .

A PPI rating is generally provided by a physician, and must be performed in conformance with a medical treatise, the Guides.  

8 AAC 45.120. Evidence. . . . 

. . .

(b) The order in which evidence and argument is presented at the hearing will be in the discretion of the board, unless otherwise expressly provided by law. All proceedings must afford every party a reasonable opportunity for a fair hearing.

(c) Each party has the following rights at hearing:

. . .


(2) to introduce exhibits; . . . .


(e) Technical rules relating to evidence and witnesses do not apply in board proceedings, except as provided in this chapter. Any relevant evidence is admissible if it is the sort of evidence on which responsible persons are accustomed to rely in the conduct of serious affairs, regardless of the existence of any common law or statutory rule which might make improper the admission of such evidence over objection in civil actions. . . . 


(f) Any document, including a compensation report, controversion notice, claim, application for adjustment of claim, request for a conference, affidavit of readiness for hearing, petition, answer, or a prehearing summary, that is served upon the parties, accompanied by proof of service, and that is in the board’s possession 20 or more days before hearing, will, in the board’s discretion, be relied upon by the board in reaching a decision unless a written request for an opportunity to cross-examine the document’s author is filed with the board and served upon all parties at least 10 days before the hearing. . . . 

. . .


(m) The board will not consider evidence or legal memoranda filed after the board closes the hearing record, unless the board, upon its motion, determines that the hearing was not completed and reopens the hearing record for additional evidence or legal memoranda.  The board will give the parties written notice of reopening the hearing record, will specify what additional documents are to be filed, and the deadline for filing the documents.

8 AAC 45.180.  Costs and attorney’s fees.

. . .


(b) A fee under AS 23.30.145(a) will only be awarded to an attorney licensed to practice law in this or another state.  An attorney seeking a fee from an employer for services performed on behalf of an applicant must apply to the board for approval of the fee; the attorney may submit an application for adjustment of claim or a petition.  An attorney requesting a fee in excess of the statutory minimum in AS 23.30.145(a) must (1) file an affidavit itemizing the hours expended, as well as the extent and character of the work performed, and (2) if a hearing is scheduled, file the affidavit at least three working days before the hearing on the claim for which the services were rendered; at the hearing, the attorney may supplement the affidavit by testifying about the hours expended and the extent and character of the work performed after the affidavit was filed.   If the request and affidavit are not in accordance with this subsection, the board will deny the request for a fee in excess of the statutory minimum fee, and will award the minimum statutory fee.

 
(c) Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, an attorney fee may not be collected from an applicant without board approval.  A request for approval of a fee to be paid by an applicant must be supported by an affidavit showing the extent and character of the legal services performed. . . . 


(d) The board will award a fee under AS 23.30.145(b) only to an attorney licensed to practice law under the laws of this or another state.


(1) A request for a fee under AS 23.30.145(b) must be verified by an affidavit itemizing the hours expended as well as the extent and character of the work performed. . . .  Failure by the attorney to file the request and affidavit in accordance with this paragraph is considered a waiver of the attorney’s right to recover a reasonable fee in excess of the statutory minimum fee under AS 23.30.145(a), if AS 23.30.145(a) is applicable to the claim, unless the board determines that good cause exists to excuse the failure to comply with this section.


(2) In awarding a reasonable fee under AS 23.30.145(b) the board will award a fee reasonably commensurate with the actual work performed and will consider the attorney’s affidavit filed under (1) of this subsection, the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the benefits resulting to the compensation beneficiaries from the services, and the amount of benefits involved.

ANALYSIS

1) Is Employee entitled to additional TTD?

Employee seeks additional TTD from January 28, 2006, through September 26, 2006.  Her entitlement turns in part on factual issues to which the presumption of compensability applies.  The factual issues include the date Employee became “medically stable,” and whether she was totally disabled during periods for which she seeks TTD before the date of medical stability, because of her injury.  Since by law the date of medically stability ends the receipt of TTD, regardless of Employee’s disability status thereafter, the date of medical stability shall be addressed first.  

In satisfying the presumption analysis’ first step regarding the date of medical stability, and without regard to credibility, Dr. Krichbaum stated Employee was not medically stable as of January 27, 2006, and became medically stable as of April 19, 2006.  In some of his reports, Dr. Krichbaum also said Employee was not medically stable as of May 31, 2006, and was medically stable on June 30, 2006.  This is adequate evidence to raise the §120 presumption as to the date of medical stability and cause it to attach, at least through June 30, 2006.  There is no medical evidence stating Employee was not medically stable, after June 30, 2006, so Employee has not raised the §120 presumption on her claim for TTD from July 1, 2006, through September 26, 2006.  The burden shifts to Employer to rebut the presumption of medical instability from January 28, 2006, through June 30, 2006, with substantial evidence to the contrary.

In satisfying the presumption analysis’ second step, and without regard to credibility, Dr. Gritzka stated Employee became medically stable in respect to her injuries by November 30, 2005, at the latest.  This opinion rebuts the presumption, causes it to drop out and requires Employee to prove she was not medically stable from January 28, 2006, through September 26, 2006, by a preponderance of the evidence.

In the third step of the analysis, the evidence concerning medical stability is weighed.  Employee relies upon Dr. Krichbaum’s opinion she was not medically stable from January 28, 2006, through at least June 30, 2006.  Dr. Krichbaum’s opinion is given somewhat less weight than some other opinions on this issue because he initially said Employee was medically stable as of April 19, 2006, but continued to check blocks on one or more of his Physician’s Report forms thereafter stating she was not medically stable.  He also opined Employee was not medically stable as of February 28, 2006, based in part on his belief Employee was not having similar symptoms before her work-related injuries and her MRI films showed significant findings in her spine, though he released her to light duty work that day.  On February 28, 2006, Dr. Krichbaum also said with little analysis Employee’s May 20, 2005 injury was “close to maximum medical improvement.”  Finally, on June 30, 2006, Dr. Krichbaum checked the medically stable “yes” box on his Physician’s Report.  

It may be Dr. Krichbaum simply used the same Physician’s Report form repeatedly and forgot to change the check mark in the medical stability “box” after April 19, 2006.  Nevertheless, this possible oversight gives his opinion slightly less weight because it makes Dr. Krichbaum’s opinion on medical stability somewhat unclear and unreliable.  If these conflicting medical stability opinions were not an oversight, then this inconsistency in Dr. Krichbaum’s records lessens the weight accorded his opinion on medical stability because the changed positions without adequate explanation are hard to understand.  On the other hand, as an attending physician, his opinion is given slightly more weight because as her attending physician he is far more familiar with Employee than any of the other physicians who evaluated her.

By contrast, EME Drs. Simpson and Soot said, in conclusory fashion and without any analysis, Employee was medically stable as of January 28, 2006.  Dr. Mulholland, given his PPI ratings, implicitly opined Employee was medically stable as of July 25, 2006, but was not asked for and did not give an earlier medical stability date.  Given his experience, it is unlikely Dr. Mulholland would have rated Employee for PPI if he thought she was not medically stable, at least by the date he performed his rating evaluation.  SIME Dr. Ross stated, without much analysis, Employee was medically stable for her low back on February 28, 2006, and for her neck on April 19, 2006.  Lastly, SIME Dr. Gritzka, again with little analysis, placed the medical stability date as November 30, 2005, for Employee’s low back, and if she actually had a neck injury on October 27, 2005, which he doubted, medical stability occurred November 30, 2005 for that injury too. 

None of the physicians offering medical stability opinions provided much analysis with which to compare or contrast with other doctors.  Employer argues Dr. Gritzka must be relied upon in all medical, factual questions since English II found him “credible.”  Employer cites no authority for its argument.  Employee correctly argued a credibility finding on one issue does not require a similar finding as to all other issues.  The law allows the fact-finders to make credibility findings and nothing in the statute requires reliance on all opinions of any particular medical expert.  English II found English I made mistakes in its determination of fact and found Dr. Gritzka’s opinions Employee had ongoing mental health issues, her symptoms may be affected by her mental illness and she needed a psychiatric examination, helpful in deciding issues raised in English II.  However, new issues are decided in this decision.

Nevertheless, it is most probable Employee’s low back was medically stable on February 28, 2006, as stated by SIME Dr. Ross, and her neck was medically stable on November 30, 2005, as stated by SIME Dr. Gritzka.  First, as to the lumbar spine, Dr. Krichbaum was very well acquainted with Employee’s low back condition and her response to his treatments.  He was strongly of the opinion Employee’s low back was not medically stable as of January 28, 2006.  However, on February 28, 2006, Dr. Krichbaum released Employee to return to light duty work and noted her symptoms had improved significantly except for her cervical spine.  Next, in his February 28, 2006 critique of the EME report, Dr. Krichbaum agreed Employee’s lumbar injury was “close to maximum medical improvement.”  Lastly, his February 28, 2006 chart notes reflect 95% to 100% improvement in all areas related to the low back.  It is hard to see how much more objectively measurable improvement could result after that date, given these results, as also described by Dr. Ross in his SIME report.  In light of Dr. Krichbaum’s release of Employee to light duty work, his notes describing significant improvement, and Dr. Krichbaum’s prediction medical stability was “close,” Dr. Ross’ choice of February 28, 2006 as the date of medical stability for the low back is more persuasive than the other medical opinions for the low back.  

Drs. Soot and Simpson’s January 28, 2006 opinion is a conclusion, with no explanation or analysis, so it is given less weight.  Dr. Mulholland’s report provides no express opinion on the medical stability issue so it is non-contributory in the analysis.  Dr. Gritzka’s opinion on low back medical stability is given less weight because he too provides little analysis for his opinion, his medical stability opinion months before the EME physicians and well before the other providers stands alone, and both attending physician Dr. Krichbaum and SIME Dr. Ross opined low back medical stability occurred later.  Accordingly, medical stability for the low back injury shall be February 28, 2006.

As for the neck, the medical record does not evidence a specific event occurring on October 27, 2005.  While a “specific event” is not necessary to find an “injury,” in this case the medical records reflect a vague history, which sounds more like one or more temporary aggravations of Employee’s preexisting neck condition, which resolved relatively quickly.  The record shows Employee woke up on August 26, 2005, with neck pain and could not ascribe it to a particular event.  This is not to say, however, Employee did not have a neck injury.  It is likely the work Employee was doing for Employer in May 2005 and October 2005 caused a temporary aggravation to her preexisting neck condition, as stated by several physicians, but it is unlikely it would have continued past November 30, 2005, as SIME Dr. Gritzka stated.  First, attending physician Dr. Krichbaum, who was most familiar with Employee’s situation, characterized the neck injury, which he concluded occurred in October 2005, as “mild.”  Next, Dr. Gritzka opined the May 20, 2005 injury could have aggravated Employee’s preexisting neck condition, which may have subsequently been re-aggravated at work with Employer in October 2005.  However, even Dr. Krichbaum only retrospectively determined there was an October 2005 injury, which he described as mild.  Lastly, Employee told the emergency room staff on November 5, 2005, her neck had only been bothering her since November 3, 2005, which, though at odds with other reports and Dr. Krichbaum’s opinion, minimizes the extent of Employee’s cervical symptoms related to her employment injuries.  Accordingly, medical stability for the neck injury shall be November 30, 2005.

Based upon this analysis, the date of medical stability for the neck is November 30, 2005, and for the low back is February 28, 2006.  The record shows Employer paid Employee TPD or TTD through January 27, 2006.  Employee’s TTD claim, clarified at hearing, is from January 28, 2006, through September 26, 2006.  As a matter of law, no TTD may be paid after the date of medical stability.  Accordingly, Employee is not entitled to TTD after February 28, 2006, based on this decision finding this is the latest date of medical stability for Employee’s neck and low back injuries.  Additionally, her attending physician Dr. Krichbaum released her to return to light duty work effective February 28, 2006, which would preclude an award of TTD after that date in any event.  However, Employee may be entitled to TTD from January 28, 2006, through February 28, 2006, if the presumption or a preponderance of evidence shows she was temporarily totally disabled during that period.

In satisfying the presumption analysis’ first step regarding temporary total disability from January 28, 2006, through February 28, 2006, and without regard to credibility, on January 27, 2006, Dr. Krichbaum said Employee was disabled because of her work-related injuries and could not return to her job at the time of injury.  This is adequate evidence to raise the §120 presumption as to TTD and cause it to attach.  The burden shifts to Employer to rebut the presumption of TTD from January 28, 2006, through February 28, 2006, with substantial evidence to the contrary.

In satisfying the presumption analysis’ second step, and without regard to credibility, EME Drs. Soot and Simpson stated Employee could return to work with restrictions, but these restrictions were not the result of her work-related injuries.  This opinion rebuts the presumption, causes it to drop out and requires Employee to prove she was disabled from January 28, 2006, through February 28, 2006, by a preponderance of the evidence.

In the third step of the analysis, the TTD evidence is weighed.  On January 20, 2006, Dr. Krichbaum took Employee off work completely from January 21, 2006, to February 7, 2006, because she had “an exacerbation of spinal related pain + spasms . . . while working on 11/2/05,” which symptoms he distinguished from cervical issues, also aggravated on the same day.  Dr. Krichbaum further noted Employee “had an exacerbation of low back pain after bending over on 1/8/06,” and on January 10, 2006, he ordered a “back school” program at Seethaler Physical Therapy to address this.  Employee relies upon Dr. Krichbaum’s opinion on his January 27, 2006 physician’s report, stating she was not released to any work because of her injuries subject of this claim.  Shortly thereafter on February 7, 2006, Dr. Krichbaum extended Employee’s total disability from February 7, 2006, to February 17, 2006, for the same reason.  Furthermore, on February 17, 2006, Dr. Krichbaum opined Employee could not return to her “old job position” without increasing her injuries, and noted she was “still making slow progress.”  Finally, on February 28, 2006, Dr. Krichbaum reexamined Employee and released her to light duty work, thus ending her potential for TTD recovery.  Taken as a whole, Dr. Krichbaum’s opinions support a period of TTD from January 28, 2006, through February 28, 2006, while Employee recovered from her exacerbations as described in his medical records.

EME physicians Drs. Soot and Simpson said Employee was unable to return to her job at the time of injury, only because of her preexisting degenerative conditions and not because of her low back injury arising from the May 20, 2005 event.  However, their January 28, 2006 report makes no mention of the doctors having any medical records to review, including Dr. Krichbaum’s lengthy report from just the day before on January 27, 2006.  It is accorded less weight on that basis.  The latter report detailed Employee’s then-recent history of exacerbating her low back pain after bending over on January 8, 2006, and Dr. Krichbaum’s attempts to address that regression.  In reference to the October 27, 2005 event, the EME physicians agreed the “flare up of her lower spine problems might reasonably be associated with the job injury” as was the treatment for it.  Similarly, using the same reasoning, the subsequent exacerbations Employee suffered to her low back could also reasonably be associated with the initial May 20, 2005 work injury.  This is consistent with Dr. Krichbaum’s TTD opinion.  The EME report is given less weight because it fails to explain why the low back symptoms, and any disability they caused from January 28, 2006, through February 28, 2006, would be more likely caused by the preexisting lumbar condition, rather than the May 20, 2005 injury with its subsequent exacerbations.  Again, the EME opinion is conclusory and without much analysis.

SIME Dr. Ross opined Employee was disabled from her job at the time of injury and stated she should not do “heavy, moderate, or light lifting.”  This implies TTD, but is non-specific as to the dates this limitation was in effect, and is vague on whether the work-related injuries are a substantial factor in Employee’s limitations.  Dr. Gritzka, like EME physicians Drs. Soot and Simpson, opined Employee is limited but stated the limitations are related to the non-work-related antecedent neck and low back conditions.  Again, his report is not specific to the period for which Employee may be entitled to TTD.  These reports, for these reasons, are given less weight.  Dr. Mulholland’s report does not specifically address the period of disability addressed in this decision and is not helpful on this issue.

In light of the above, Dr. Krichbaum’s records and opinions, given the reasonable explanations offered for his opinions, are more persuasive on this TTD issue than the other evidence.  Employee was more likely than not TTD from the effects of her May 20, 2005 work-related injury and subsequent exacerbations, from January 28, 2006, through February 28, 2006, the date her low back condition became medically stable.  She will be awarded TTD for that period.

2) Is Employee entitled to PPI?

This is a factual issue to which the presumption of compensability applies.  In satisfying the presumption analysis’ first step, and without regard to credibility, Dr. Mulholland provided a PPI rating for both the low back and cervical injuries and opined the work injuries were the sole contributors to these ratings.  This is adequate evidence to raise the §120 presumption as to PPI and cause it to attach.  The burden shifts to Employer to rebut the presumption Employee is entitled to PPI with substantial evidence to the contrary.

In satisfying the presumption analysis’ second step, and without regard to credibility, EME Drs. Soot and Simpson stated there is no PPI in respect to the May 20, 2005 injury and SIME Dr. Gritzka opined there was no PPI attributable to either the low back or neck injuries subject of this claim.  These opinions rebut the presumption, cause it to drop out and require Employee to prove she is entitled to PPI by a preponderance of the evidence.

In the third step of the analysis, the PPI evidence is weighed.  The medical records not available to Dr. Mulholland at the time he performed his PPI rating show Employee had a prior, 7%, low back PPI rating performed by Dr. Nolan for a previous injury, and other records show she was paid the related PPI benefits.  Dr. Mulholland, therefore, incorrectly believed Employee’s low back injury “resolved,” and consequently he did not reduce his 5% lumbar PPI rating by any preexisting lumbar PPI as required by law.  Therefore, his lumbar PPI rating is given very little weight.  Dr. Mulholland attributed all the findings on the cervical MRI to the October 27, 2005 injury.  However, this decision already found: The neck injury was mild, based upon Dr. Krichbaum’s initial opinion the neck injury was “mild”; it was medically stable on November 30, 2005; and it was only a temporary aggravation of Employee’s preexisting neck condition.  Later, on February 28, 2006, Dr. Krichbaum opined Employee’s continuing neck symptoms and his reexamination “substantiate a new cervical spine injury” but he failed to explain how the mild nature of the October 27, 2005 neck injury could account for all the changes seen on the cervical MRI, which he implied were causing her continuing neck symptoms.  Thus, Dr. Krichbaum’s PPI prediction, though without an actual rating, and Dr. Mulholland’s cervical PPI rating, are given very little weight.

Similarly, SIME Dr. Ross provided an 8% lumbar PPI rating attributable to these injuries.  However, he too was unaware of Dr. Nolan’s prior 7% PPI rating for the lumbar spine and consequently did not reduce his 8% lumbar PPI rating by any preexisting lumbar PPI as required by law.  Therefore, his lumbar PPI rating is given very little weight.

By contrast SIME Dr. Gritzka also provided a PPI rating for both the neck and low back but opined both resulted from Employee’s preexisting spine conditions and not from her work-related injuries subject of this claim.  Furthermore, Dr. Gritzka was also not aware of Dr. Nolan’s prior lumbar PPI rating and consequently he did not reduce his 5% lumbar PPI rating by any preexisting lumbar PPI as required by law.  His opinion of no-work-related-PPI is given greater weight because it comports with the EME doctors’ PPI opinions as well, and because his ratings have been useful in other cases.  In summary, the best which can be said of all this PPI evidence in totality is Employee failed to meet her burden of production and her burden of persuasion on the PPI issue.  Employee failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence she suffered either a cervical or lumbar PPI as a result of these injuries, based on the current evidence.  Her PPI claim will be denied.

3) Is Employee entitled to reimbursement of incurred medical costs or any additional medical care at this time?

This is a factual issue to which the presumption of compensability applies.  In satisfying the presumption analysis’ first step, and without regard to credibility, Employee testified she paid some medical bills related to this injury from her own pocket and wants reimbursement.  Dr. Krichbaum and Employee said Employee needed continuing medical care otherwise denied.   This is adequate evidence to raise the §120 presumption as to medical care and cause it to attach.  The burden shifts to Employer to rebut the presumption Employee is entitled to reimbursement of past and ongoing medical expenses and ongoing treatment, with substantial evidence to the contrary.

In satisfying the presumption analysis’ second step, and without regard to credibility, EME Drs. Soot and Simpson opined Employee needed no more treatment for her work-related injuries as of January 28, 2006, and only treatment to the low back was ever work-related.  This opinion rebuts the presumption, causes it to drop out and requires Employee to prove she is entitled to reimbursement of out-of-pocket medical expenses and ongoing medical care for her injuries, by a preponderance of the evidence.

In the third step of the analysis, the evidence concerning past and ongoing medical care is weighed.  As an initial matter, Employee’s claim for reimbursement is unclear.  Employee’s mileage reimbursement list is inadequate as a matter of law to support an award of medical-related transportation expenses because it is not itemized with sufficient information to determine what the visits were for, how many miles were involved or how Employee traveled.  Similarly, her one pharmacy receipt with “Flexiril – Muscle Relaxer” hand-written on it is not reliable enough to justify an award because the receipt does not say what was purchased, for what condition and by whom the medication was prescribed.  Consequently, these requests will be denied.

Employee also stated she filed medical receipts for reimbursement on a September 9, 2010 medical summary and estimated her total, outstanding, work-related medical bills approached $3,500.00.  However, Employee failed to carry her burden of production in this regard, because the available bills in the record do not support her request.  Furthermore, all the medical billings attached to the referenced medical summary were incurred after January 1, 2007.  For reasons discussed below, these bills fall outside the period for which medical care and treatment for the work-related injuries are deemed work-related, necessary or reasonable.

SIME Dr. Ross said Employee needed no more medical treatment for her low back as of February 28, 2006, or for her neck as of April 19, 2006.  SIME Dr. Gritzka opined Employee needed no more care for either injury, and doubted there even was a discreet neck injury in October 2005.  Dr. Ross agreed the documentation for the October 2005 injury was “very light.”  Both EME physicians agreed the neck injured resolved fairly quickly and stated Employee need no more medical care for either injury as of January 28, 2006.  Even Dr. Krichbaum initially called the neck injury “mild.”  Based on these medical opinions, and considering this decision’s finding the last work-related condition to reach medical stability, the low back, became medically stable on February 28, 2006, the weight of the evidence shows Employee’s work-related conditions to her neck and low back needed no further treatment after February 28, 2006.  

As discussed above, the record contains no evidence of unpaid medical bills prior to that date.  All other documented medical expenses were incurred after that date, so they will be denied.  If Employee’s neck or low back conditions or symptoms change, she can file a claim for modification or a new claim in the future based upon new medical evidence.  As for her current claim for past and ongoing medical care after February 28, 2006, it will be denied.

4) Is Employee entitled to reemployment benefits?

This is a legal question to which the presumption analysis does not apply.  The law gives the RBA the right to initially decide if a person is entitled to an eligibility evaluation and if she is eligible for reemployment and retraining benefits.  No such RBA determination has ever been made in this case.  If Employee wants to pursue any benefits she may have under §041, she may contact the RBA and make the appropriate request.  Employer may raise any appropriate defenses.  This decision will not decide Employee’s rights under §041 in the first instance.

5) Is Employee entitled to interest, attorney’s fees, or costs?

Employee prevailed on approximately four weeks of TTD.  Accordingly, she is by law entitled to an associated award of statutory pre-decision interest on the value of the TTD.  Interest will be ordered.  

Employee also sought an associated attorney’s fee and cost award.  Her attorney did not file and serve a fee and cost affidavit, as required by law.  Employer at hearing objected to Employee’s counsel’s suggestion he would file one later if he prevailed.  The law requires the fee affidavit be filed at least three working days prior to the hearing.  If it is not filed and served in accordance with law, only a statutory minimum fee may be awarded.  Accordingly, a statutory minimum fee will be awarded to Employee’s counsel based upon the value of the four weeks TTD and associated interest.  Employer will be directed to calculate the TTD and interest and the statutory fee.  Jurisdiction is reserved to resolve any disputes.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1) Employee entitled to additional TTD.

2) Employee is not entitled to PPI.

3) Employee is not entitled to reimbursement of incurred medical costs or any additional medical care at this time.

4) Employee’s entitlement to reemployment benefits, if any, is deferred to the RBA.

5) Employee is entitled to interest and attorney’s fees.

ORDER
1) Employer shall pay Employee additional TTD from January 28, 2006, through February 28, 2006.

2) Employee’s PPI claim is denied.

3) Employee’s claim for reimbursement of incurred medical costs is denied and her claim for additional medical care from February 28, 2006 to present is denied.

4) Employee’s entitlement to reemployment benefits, if any, is deferred to the RBA should Employee make an appropriate request to the RBA.

5) Employee is awarded interest and statutory minimum attorney’s fees on the value of the TTD and interest awarded in this decision.  Employer is directed to calculate the value of the TTD and related interest and pay the fee accordingly.  Jurisdiction is reserved to resolve any disputes.

Dated in Anchorage, Alaska on March 25, 2011.
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If compensation is payable under the terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 20 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission.

If compensation is awarded, but not paid within 30 days of this decision, the person to whom the compensation is payable may, within one year after the default of payment, request from the board a supplementary order declaring the amount of the default.

APPEAL PROCEDURES

This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23.30.127.

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128.

RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of SYLVIA A. ENGLISH Employee / applicant v. DENALI FOODS INC; TACO BELL, Employer; WAUSAU UNDERWRITERS INSURANCE, insurer / defendants; Case Nos. 200508120, 200523681; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, on March 25, 2011.
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